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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

THOMAS E. PEREZ, Secretary Of Labor,
United States Department Of Labor,

Plaintiff, . Case No.: 5:15-cv-01264
V.

CLARK V. HAYES and APPLIED
TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS, INC.,
individually and as fiduciaries of the
APPLIED TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS, INC.
RETIREMENT PLAN, and the APPLIED
TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS, INC.
RETIREMENT PLAN,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Thomas E. Perez, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of

Labor (the “Secretary”), alleges:
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This action arises under Title I of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), as amended, 29 U.S.C. 881001, et seq., and is brought by
the Secretary under ERISA §8502(a)(2) and (5), 29 U.S.C. 881132(a)(2) and (5), to
enjoin acts and practices that violate the provisions of Title | of ERISA, to obtain
appropriate equitable relief for breaches of fiduciary duty under ERISA 8409, 29 U.S.C.
81109, and to obtain such further equitable relief as may be appropriate to redress
violations and to enforce the provisions of Title | of ERISA.

2. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to ERISA §502(e)(1),

29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(1).
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3. The Applied Technology Systems, Inc. Retirement Plan (“Plan”) is an
employee benefit plan within the meaning of ERISA 83(3), 29 U.S.C. §1002(3), which is
subject to the provisions of Title | of ERISA pursuant to ERISA 84(a), 29 U.S.C.
§1003(a).

4. Defendant Applied Technology Systems, Inc. (“the Company”), a foreign
corporation licensed to do business in Ohio, is the Plan Sponsor and Plan
Administrator.

5. Defendant Clark V. Hayes is the chief executive officer of the Company.

6. Venue of this action lies in the Northern District of Ohio, pursuant to
ERISA §502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. 81132(e)(2), because the Plan was administered in
Cuyahoga County, Ohio, within this district.

DEFENDANTS

7. At all relevant times, Defendant Clark V. Hayes was the sole shareholder of
the Company and a fiduciary of the Plan within the meaning of ERISA 83(21)(A), 29
U.S.C. 81002(21)(A) and a party in interest to the Plan within the meaning of ERISA
§83(14)(A) and (H); 29 U.S.C. §81002(14)(A) and (H).

8. At all relevant times, the Company was the Plan Administrator and a
fiduciary of the Plan within the meaning of ERISA §3(16)(A), 29 U.S.C. 81002(16)(A)
and a party in interest to the Plan within the meaning of ERISA 883(14)(A) and (C); 29
U.S.C. 881002(14)(A) and (C).

9. The Plan is named as a defendant herein pursuant to Rule 19(a) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure solely to assure that complete relief can be granted.
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CAUSE OF ACTION

Fiduciary Breaches and Prohibited Transactions

10. Paragraphs 1 through 9 above are re-alleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

11. Beginning on January 17, 2014, Fidelity Management & Research
Company (the Plan’s asset custodian), acting at the behest of Hayes, transferred
$210,662.18 of Plan assets to a Charter One bank account (the “Account”).

12. From January 17, 2014, through February 14, 2014, Hayes, as the sole
signatory, withdrew $98,581.75 of the $210,662.18 from the Account and used the
funds for personal, non-Plan purposes.

13. Defendants Hayes and the Company used these Plan assets for their own
benefit and not for the benefit of the participants and beneficiaries.

14, By the conduct described above, Defendants Hayes and the Company:

a. failed to hold the assets of the Plan in trust in violation of ERISA
§8403(a) and (c)(1), 29 U.S.C. 881103(a) and (c)(1);

b. failed to discharge their duties with respect to the Plan solely in the
interest of the participants and beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of
providing benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying
reasonable expenses of administering the Plan, in violation of ERISA
§404(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(A);

c. failed to discharge their duties with respect to the Plan solely in the
interest of the participants and beneficiaries and with the skill, prudence, and

diligence under the circumstances that a prudent man acting in a like capacity
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and familiar with such matters would use, in violation of ERISA 8404(a)(1)(B),

29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(B);

d. caused the Plan to engage in transactions that they knew or should
have known constituted a direct or indirect transfer to, or use by or for the benefit
of, parties in interest, of any assets of the Plan in violation of ERISA
§406(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. §1106(a)(1)(D);

e. dealt with assets of the Plan in their own interest or for their own
account, in violation of ERISA 8406(b)(1), 29 U.S.C. 81106(b)(1); and

f. in their individual or other capacity acted in transactions involving
the Plan on behalf of parties (or represented parties) whose interests were
adverse to the interests of the Plan, or the interests of its participants or
beneficiaries in violation of ERISA 8406(b)(2), 29 U.S.C. 81106(b)(2).

15.  Asadirect and proximate result of these breaches committed by
defendants, the Plan has suffered injury and losses for which it is entitled to equitable
relief, pursuant to ERISA § 409, 29 U.S.C. § 1109.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Secretary prays for judgment:

A. Ordering defendants to make good to the Plan any losses, including lost
opportunity costs, resulting from fiduciary breaches committed by such defendant or for
which such defendant is liable;

B. Ordering defendants to correct the prohibited transactions in which he or
it engaged, restore any losses to the Plan, and pay appropriate interest;

C. Ordering defendants, as parties in interest, to disgorge any profits received



Case: 5:15-cv-01264-JRA Doc #: 1 Filed: 06/24/15 5 of 5. PagelD #: 5

as a result of prohibited transactions in which they engaged,;
D. Permanently enjoining defendants from serving as fiduciaries or service
providers to any ERISA-covered employee benefit plan;
E. Ordering the appointment of an independent fiduciary to oversee the Plan
after the fiduciaries are removed,
F. Awarding the Secretary the costs of this action; and
G. Ordering such further relief as is appropriate and just.
M. PATRICIA SMITH
Solicitor of Labor

CHRISTINE Z. HERI
Regional Solicitor

BENJAMIN T. CHINNI
Associate Regional Solicitor

/s/ Hema Steele
HEMA STEELE (0081456)
Trial Attorney

U.S. Department of Labor

Office of Solicitor

1240 East Ninth Street, Room 881
Cleveland, Ohio 44199

(216) 522-7546

(216) 522-7172
Steele.Hema@dol.gov
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
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3. [] Habeas Corpus Death Penalty
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CASE NUMBER:

RELATED OR REFILED CASES. See LR 3.1 which provides in pertinent part: "If an action is filed or removed to this Court
and assigned to a District Judge after which it is discontinued, dismissed or remanded to a State court, and
subsequently refiled, it shall be assigned to the same Judge who received the initial case assignment without regardfor
the place of holding court in which the case was refiled. Counsel or a party without counsel shall be responsible for
bringing such cases to the attention of the Court by responding to the questions included on the Civil Cover Sheet."

This action is IEI RELATED to another PENDING civil case. This action is |:| REFILED pursuant to LR 3.1.

If applicable, please indicate on page 1 in section VIIl, the name of the Judge and case nhumber.

In accordance with Local Civil Rule 3.8, actions involving counties in the Eastern Division shall be filed at any of the
divisional offices therein. Actions involving counties in the Western Division shall be filed at the Toledo office. For the
purpose of determining the proper division, and for statistical reasons, the following information is requested.

ANSWER ONE PARAGRAPH ONLY. ANSWER PARAGRAPHS 1 THRU 3 IN ORDER. UPON FINDING WHICH
PARAGRAPH APPLIES TO YOUR CASE, ANSWER IT AND STOP.

1) Resident defendant. If the defendant resides in a county within this district, please set forth the name of such
county

COUNTY: Summit

Corporation For the purpose of answering the above, a corporation is deemed to be aresident of that county in which
it has its principal place of business in that district.

2) Non-Resident defendant. If no defendant is a resident of a county in this district, please set forth the county
wherein the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred.

COUNTY:

3) Other Cases. If no defendant is a resident of this district, or if the defendant is a corporation not having a principle

place of business within the district, and the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred outside
this district, please set forth the county of the plaintiff's residence.
COUNTY:

The Counties in the Northern District of Ohio are divided into divisions as shown below. After the county is
determined in Section lll, please check the appropriate division.

EASTERN DIVISION

IEI AKRON (Counties: Carroll, Holmes, Portage, Stark, Summit, Tuscarawas and Wayne)
I:I CLEVELAND (Counties: Ashland, Ashtabula, Crawford, Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake,

Lorain, Medina and Richland)
I:I YOUNGSTOWN (Counties: Columbiana, Mahoning and Trumbull)

WESTERN DIVISION

I:I TOLEDO (Counties: Allen, Auglaize, Defiance, Erie, Fulton, Hancock, Hardin, Henry,
Huron, Lucas, Marion, Mercer, Ottawa, Paulding, Putnam, Sandusky, Seneca

VanWert, Williams, Wood and Wyandot)
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Northern District of Ohio
THOMAS E. PEREZ, Secretary of Labor, United
States Department of Labor ;
Plaintiff )
V. ) Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264
CLARK V. HAYES, et al. ;
)

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Clark V. Hayes, Individually
4399 Kings Forest Boulevard
Richfield, Ohio 44286

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Hema Steele

Department of Labor, Office of the Solicitor
1240 East Ninth Street, Room 881
Cleveland, Ohio 44199

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(3 | personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

(3 | left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
3 Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

e W Seers
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Northern District of Ohio
THOMAS E. PEREZ, Secretary of Labor, United
States Department of Labor ;
Plaintiff )
V. ) Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264
CLARK V. HAYES, et al. ;
)

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Applied Technology Systems, Inc.
1300 East Ninth Street
Suite 1700
Cleveland, Ohio 44114

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Hema Steele

Department of Labor, Office of the Solicitor
1240 East Ninth Street, Room 881
Cleveland, Ohio 44199

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(3 | personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

(3 | left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
3 Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

e W Seers
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Northern District of Ohio
THOMAS E. PEREZ, Secretary of Labor, United
States Department of Labor ;
Plaintiff )
V. ) Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264
CLARK V. HAYES, et al. )
)
Defendant )

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Applied Technology Systems, Inc.
c/o Clark V. Hayes, Statutory Agent
4399 Kings Forest Boulevard
Richfield, Ohio 44286

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Hema Steele

Department of Labor, Office of the Solicitor
1240 East Ninth Street, Room 881
Cleveland, Ohio 44199

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(3 | personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

(3 | left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
3 Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

e W Seers
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Northern District of Ohio
THOMAS E. PEREZ, Secretary of Labor, United
States Department of Labor ;
Plaintiff )
V. ) Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264
CLARK V. HAYES, et al. ;
)

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Clark V. Hayes
Fiduciary of the Applied Technology Systems, Inc. Retirement Plan
4399 Kings Forest Boulevard
Richfield, Ohio 44286

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Hema Steele

Department of Labor, Office of the Solicitor
1240 East Ninth Street, Room 881
Cleveland, Ohio 44199

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 5:15-cv-01264

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(3 | personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

(3 | left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
3 Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

e W Seers
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